

New Zealand Reining Horse Association CONSTITUTION

OPERATIVE PROVISIONS

1 Creation of the Society and adoption of this constitution

- **1.1** The Society was incorporated on 22 December 2020 under the Incorporated Societies Act 1908 and is to be reincorporated under the Incorporated Societies Act 2022.
- **1.2** This constitution was adopted by way of amendment on 21July 2024, to replace the Society's previous constitution.

2 Definitions

- **2.1** In this constitution:
- (a) **Act** means the Incorporated Societies Act 2022 or its successors and any regulations made under those statutes.
- (b) **Annual General Meeting** has the meaning given in clause 25.
- (c) **Arm's-length terms** mean terms between the Society and an officer or a member in relation to a transaction that:

- (i) would be reasonable in the circumstances if the parties were connected or related only by the transaction in question, each acting independently, and each acting in its own best interests; or
- (ii) are less favourable to the officer or member than the terms referred to in clause 2.1(c)(i); and
- (iii) do not include any share of a gain, profit, or surplus, percentage of revenue, or other reward in connection with any gain, profit, surplus, or revenue of the Society.
- (d) **Committee** means the officers of the Society acting as a board in accordance with this constitution.
- (e) **General** meeting means either an annual general meeting or a special general meeting, as the case may be.
- (f) **Interests Register** means the register of officer interests maintained by the Committee pursuant to clause 16.1 of this constitution.
- (g) **Member** means an individual or entity that has become a member of the Society, paid any subscriptions due and whose membership has not been terminated, in accordance with this constitution.
- (h) **Notice** means any notice sent by post, courier or email to the most recent physical, postal or email address of the intended recipient that is known to the 2 sender of the notice or, in the case of notices to the Society, to the Society's registered office.
- (i) **Objects** means the objects of the Society provided for in clause 4 of this constitution. (j) Officer means an officer (including Committee Member) of the Society appointed pursuant to clause 11 of this constitution.
- (k) **President** means the individual appointed as the Society's President pursuant to clause 11.4a whose duties include those provided for in clause 12.
- (I) **Secretary** means the individual appointed as the Society's Secretary pursuant to clause 11.4c whose duties include those provided for in clause 13.
- (m) **Society** means the incorporated society with the name specified in clause 3.1 and governed by this constitution.
- (n) **Special General Meeting** has the meaning given in clause 24.2.
- (o) **Treasurer** means the individual appointed as the Society's Treasurer pursuant to clause 11.4d whose duties include those provided for in clause 14.
- (p) **Vice-President** means the individual appointed as the Society's Vice-President pursuant to clause 11.4b whose duties include those provided for in clause 12.

3 Name

3.1 The name of the Society is New Zealand Reining Horse Association Incorporated.

4 Objects

- **4.1** The objects of the Society are:
- (a) To promote and encourage the equine sport of Reining and encourage the showing of reining horses in New Zealand.
- (b) Encourage the development & public interest in Reining Horse shows through promotion of public competitions, public exhibitions, merchandise and printed material.
- (c) To support Internationally recognised Standards for performance and Judging of Reining.

- (d) To offer coaching and competitive opportunities in the sport of Reining.
- (e) To provide for, promote and encourage animal welfare.
- (f) To provide competitors and spectators with the information they need for a proper understanding of the sport of Reining in the show arena.
- (g) To encourage the development and breeding of Reining Horses.
- (h) To ensure & maintain suitable standards for professional conduct for providing a fun filled, family orientated atmosphere.

5 Powers

- **5.1** Except as restricted by this constitution, the Society has full capacity, rights, powers and privileges to carry on or undertake any activity, do any act, or enter any transaction required to further or promote the Objects including, without limitation, to:
- (a) make regulations or bylaws to advance the attainment of any of the Objects;
- (b) do any act or thing incidental or conductive to the attainment of the Objects;
- (c) use such of its funds to pay the costs and expenses of furthering or carrying out the Objects;
- (d) employ one or more individuals on such terms approved by the Committee (subject to clause 5.4);
- (e) purchase, lease, hire or otherwise acquire, exchange and sell, lease or otherwise dispose of property, rights or privileges; and
- (f) invest in any investment in which a trustee might invest (subject to Trusts Act 2019, s 30).
- **5.2** Notwithstanding clause 5.1, the Society cannot borrow or raise money (or provide any security to borrow or raise money) unless the incurring of the debt is approved by an ordinary resolution at a general meeting.
- **5.3** Regardless of any other provision in this constitution, the Society must not do any thing:
- (a) other than to further the Objects; or
- (b) for the personal or individual financial gain of any member (except as provided for in clause 5.4).
- **5.4** The Society may provide financial benefits to a member or officer, or any associated person but only on arm's length terms and any payments made in respect of such transactions must be limited to:
- (a) a fair and reasonable reward for services performed;
- (b) reimbursement of expenses properly incurred;
- (c) usual professional, business or trade charges; and/or
- (d) interest at no more than current commercial rates.

6 Membership

- **6.1** The classes of membership and the method by which members are admitted to different classes of membership are:
- (a) Individual member: A **Single Member** is an individual admitted to membership under clause 7 and who or which has not ceased to be a member under any other clause.

- (b) Family Member: A **Family Member** is a family consisting of two adults and children (of 18 years and under on 1 August of the relevant year) living in the same household admitted to membership under clause 7 and who or which has not ceased to be a member under any other clause.
- (c) Youth member: A **Youth Member** is an individual of 18 years and under on 1 August of the relevant year admitted to membership under clause 7 and who or which has not ceased to be a member under any other clause.
- (d) Social Non Riding member: A **Social Non Riding Member** is an individual admitted to membership under clause 7 and who or which has not ceased to be a member under any other clause.
- (e) Life Member: A **Life Member** is a person honoured for meritorious services to the Society after recommendation by the Committee and election as a life member by resolution of a general meeting passed by a two-thirds majority of those present and voting. A Life Member has all the rights and privileges of an Individual Member and is subject to all the duties of an Individual Member except those of paying subscriptions and levies.
- (f) **Honorary Member**: An Honorary Member is a person honoured for services to the Society or an associated field elected as an Honorary Member by resolution of a general meeting passed by a two-thirds majority of those present and voting. An Honorary Member has no membership rights, privileges or duties.
- 6.2 Every member must advise the Secretary of any change of the member's contact details.
- **6.3** The Secretary must keep a register of members recording:
- (a) the name of each member;
- (b) the last known contact details of each member;
- (c) the date on which each person became a member; and
- (d) all other information prescribed by the Act (if any).
- **6.4** The Secretary must update its register of members as soon as practicable after becoming aware of changes to the information recorded on the register.
- **6.5** All members (including members of the Committee) must promote the interests and the objects of the Society and must do nothing to bring the Society into disrepute.
- **6.6** Copies of this constitution must be provided to any member on request.

7 Admission of Members

- **7.1** Applicants for membership as Individual Members, Family Members, Youth Members or Social Non Riding Members must complete any application form provided by the Committee and supply such information as may be required by the Committee.
- **7.2** Membership application forms must provide a mechanism for the applicant for membership to confirm their consent to become a member of the Society, which may include:
- (a) a requirement for the applicant to sign the application form; or

- (b) a requirement for the applicant to confirm by electronic means their consent to become a member of the Society.
- **7.3** Membership applications must be approved by the Committee who may interview an applicant.
- **7.4** The Committee has discretion whether or not to admit a membership applicant to membership and must advise the applicant of its decision within a reasonable time of the application being provided to the Secretary.

8 Subscriptions and Levies

- **8.1** The annual subscription payable for different classes of membership for the following financial year must be set by resolution at each annual general meeting.
- **8.2** If no resolution changing subscription amounts is passed at an annual general meeting, the subscription amounts in place at the commencement of that annual general meeting will continue to apply.
- **8.3** The Committee may by resolution impose a levy or levies on members in different classes of membership in any financial year up to a maximum totalling 50 per cent of the annual subscription for that year for each class of member.
- **8.4** Any member failing to pay the annual subscription (or any instalment acceptable to the Committee) or any levy within one calendar month of the due date will have their membership suspended and (without being released from the obligation of payment) will have no membership rights and will not be entitled to participate in any Society activity until all the arrears are paid. If such arrears are not paid within six months of the date the subscription or levy became due or such later date as the Committee may determine, the member's membership will end and the member must cease to hold themself out as a member of the Society, and must return to the Society all material 6 produced by the Society (including any membership certificate, handbooks and manuals) requested by the Committee.

9 Cessation of Membership

- **9.1** Any member may resign from that member's class of membership by notice to the Secretary and the following terms will then apply:
- (a) the resignation will take effect from the date of the resignation notice;
- (b) the member resigning remains liable to pay all subscriptions, levies and any other fees to the end of that financial year;
- (c) the resigning member must cease to hold themself out as a member of the Society and must return to the Society all material produced by the Society (including any membership certificate, handbooks and manuals) requested by the Committee, from the date of their resignation.

- **9.2** The Committee may give a member notice terminating that member's membership if that member:
- (a) ceases to be qualified to be a member; or
- (b) is convicted of a category 3 or 4 offence under the Criminal Procedure Act 2011 or an offence for which a convicted person may be imprisoned; or
- (c) is removed as a member pursuant to the provisions of this constitution.
- 9.3 When a member's membership is terminated under clause 9.2:
- (a) the termination will take effect from the date specified in the termination notice;
- (b) the member remains liable to pay all subscriptions, levies and any other fees to the end of that financial year; and
- (c) the member must cease to hold themself out as a member of the Society and must return to the Society all material produced by the Society (including any membership certificate, handbooks and manuals) requested by the Committee from the date of the termination notice.

10 Re-Admission of Former Members

- **10.1** Any former member may apply for re-admission in the manner prescribed for new applicants and may be re-admitted by decision of the Committee.
- **10.2** However, if a former member's membership was terminated under clause 9.2 the applicant must not be re-admitted by the Committee without the prior approval of a general meeting.

11 The Committee

- **11.1** The Committee has all the powers necessary for managing, directing and supervising the management, operation and affairs of the Society, subject to the terms of this constitution.
- **11.2** The Committee shall consist of between ten elected members and the Secretary and the Treasurer (the "Officers").
- **11.3** To qualify for appointment as an Officer, a nominee must satisfy the qualifications for appointment as an officer of a Society in Incorporated Societies Act 2022, s 47.
- **11.4** The Committee shall elect amongst themselves, or in the case of The Secretary and the Treasurer agree to appoint from outside the Officers, at the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting:
- (a) The President
- (b) The Vice President
- (c) The Secretary; and
- (d) The Treasurer.

- 11.5 All Officers except the Secretary and the Treasurer must:
- (a) be members of the Society but cannot be **Youth Members** or **Social Non Riding Members**, and
- (b) have been members for no less than six months, or
- (c) have been members for a total of twelve months or more over the past five previous years, regardless of whether their current membership duration is under twelve months.
- 11.6 The Secretary and the Treasurer do not need to be members of the Society.
- **11.7** If, between annual general meetings, a vacancy arises in the position of President, Vice-President, Secretary or Treasurer or if the Committee fails to meet the requirements of clause 11.2 that vacancy or those vacancies must be filled by appointment of the Committee. The members of the Association must be notified prior to any appointment being made under this provision. The appointment of any person 8 under this provision shall be for a term ending at the commencement of the next Annual General Meeting.
- **11.8** The Officers elected at any annual general meeting:
- (a) will hold office until the second annual general meeting following their appointment; but
- (b) they may seek re-appointment at that annual general meeting.
- **11.9** Despite clause 11.10 one-half of the Officers must resign at each annual general meeting but any person resigning may seek re-appointment at that annual general meeting.
- **11.10** In the event that one-half of the Committee is not due to resign under clause 11.8(a) then:
- (a) Any Officer co-opted to the Committee pursuant to clause 11.7 shall resign; and if further resignations are required
- (b) Officers not otherwise due to resign shall draw lots at the Committee Meeting preceding the Annual General Meeting to determine who else is to resign.
- **11.11** The Officers must be elected as follows:
- (a) nominations for appointment as an Officer, accompanied by the evidence of consent of each nominee, must be received by the Secretary not less than fourteen clear days before the date of the annual general meeting;
- (b) not less than seven clear days before the date of the annual general meeting, the Secretary must post or email to all members a voting paper listing all Officer nominees and such information (not exceeding 500 words) as may be supplied to the Secretary by or on behalf of each nominee in support of their nomination;
- (c) if there are insufficient valid nominations received under clause 11.11(a) above, but not otherwise, further nominations may be received from the floor at the annual general meeting;
- (d) votes must be cast in such manner as the chairperson of the annual general meeting determines;
- (e) two members (who are not nominees) designated by the chairperson of the annual general meeting must act as scrutineers for the counting of the votes and destruction of any voting papers; and

- (f) in the event of any vote being tied the tie must be resolved by the other members of the incoming Committee.
- **11.12** Subject to clause 5.4, officers may be paid such remuneration or honorarium as the Committee may from time to time determine.
- **11.13** Any officer may be removed as an officer by a resolution of a general meeting of which prior notice was given in the notice of meeting and which is passed by a two-thirds majority of those present and voting.

12 President and Vice-President

The Committee is responsible for generally overseeing and directing the affairs and business of the Society, under the leadership of the **President** (and, in the absence of the President, the **Vice-President**).

13 Secretary

- **13.1** The Secretary must record the minutes of all general meetings and Committee meetings, and all such minutes when confirmed by the next such meeting and signed by the chairperson of that meeting will be prima facie evidence that that meeting was duly called and will be deemed to be a true and correct record of what occurred at that meeting.
- 13.2 The Secretary must hold the Society's records, documents, and books.
- **13.3** The Secretary must deal with and answer correspondence and perform such other duties as directed by the Committee.
- **13.4** The Committee may in its discretion suspend or remove the Secretary from office.
- **13.5** The Secretary must keep a membership register of Members recording their names and contact details, the dates each member became a Member and all other information required by the Incorporated Societies Act 2022.
- **13.6** Unless an alternative "contact person" is appointed by the Committee (for the purposes of the Incorporated Societies Act 2022), the Secretary will be the Society's "contact person".

14 Treasurer

14.1 The Treasurer must:

- (a) prepare or have prepared financial statements that comply with the Act;
- (b) provide a true record of the Society's financial position and a report on the Society's financial position to each Committee meeting and present annual financial statements (meeting the requirements of the Act) to the Annual General Meeting together with a budget for the next financial year.
- (c) ensure that copies of the Society's financial statements are registered with the Registrar of Incorporated Societies within 6 months after the balance date of the Society.

15 Finances

- **15.1** The Committee must maintain bank accounts in the name of the Society, and all withdrawal forms must be signed and all electronic transactions must be approved by the Treasurer and in each case countersigned or approved by another officer.
- **15.2** All money received on account of the Society must be banked within five working days of receipt.
- **15.3** All accounts paid or for payment must be submitted to the Treasurer who must then present the accounts to the Committee for approval of payment.
- **15.4** The Society's financial year commences on 1 June of each year and ends on 31 May in the following year.
- **15.5** The annual general meeting each year must appoint a chartered accountant to prepare annual financial statements of the Society. Any such chartered accountant must be a member of Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand and may be a member of the Society, and if any such chartered accountant becomes unable or unwilling to act after his or her appointment but before preparing annual financial statements of the Society the Committee must appoint a replacement chartered accountant.

16 Disclosure of Officer Interests

- **16.1** The Committee must maintain a register in which the officer's interests are recorded.
- **16.2** An officer who is interested in a matter relating to the Society (as defined in s 62 of the Act) must disclose details of the nature and extent of the interest (including any monetary value of the interest if it can be quantified):
- (a) to the Committee; and
- (b) in the Interests Register.
- **16.3** Disclosure under clause
- **16.2** must be made as soon as practicable after the officer becomes aware that they are interested in the matter.

17 Officer Ceasing to Hold Office

- **17.1** A person ceases to be an officer if the person:
- (a) resigns in accordance with clause 17.2; or
- (b) is removed from office in accordance with clause 11.13; or
- (c) becomes disqualified from being an officer under s 47(3) of the Act; or
- (d) dies; or
- (e) otherwise vacates office in accordance with this constitution.

- **17.2** An officer may resign by giving notice of resignation to the Secretary and the President and the notice of resignation will take effect when it is received by the Secretary and the President or at any later time specified in the notice.
- **17.3** Each officer must, within one calendar month of submitting a resignation or ceasing to hold office, deliver to that officer's successor or the Secretary all books, papers and other property of the Society possessed by such former officer requested by the Committee.
- **17.4** Despite vacating office as an officer, a person who has held office as an officer remains liable for acts and omissions and decisions made while that person was an officer.

18 Management by the Committee and Subcommittees

- **18.1** From the end of each annual general meeting until the end of the next, the Society must be administered, managed and controlled by the Committee.
- **18.2** Subject to this constitution and the resolution of any general meeting, the Committee may exercise all the Society's powers, other than those required by statute or by this constitution to be exercised by the Society in general meeting.
- **18.3** The Committee must meet at such times and places and in such manner (including by telephone or video conference) as it may determine and otherwise where and as convened by the President or Secretary.
- **18.4** All Committee meetings must be chaired by the President, or in the President's absence by the Vice-President, or in the absence of both of them by another officer elected for the purpose by the meeting, and any such chairperson does not have a deliberative and casting vote.
- **18.5** The Committee may co-opt any person to the Committee for a specific purpose, or for a limited period, or generally until the next annual general meeting.
- **18.6** The quorum for Committee meetings is at least half the number of the officers.
- **18.7** Only officers elected or appointed under clause 11 who are present in person or by telephone or video link may be counted in the quorum and entitled to vote at a meeting of the Committee.
- **18.8** The Committee may appoint subcommittees consisting of such persons (whether or not members of the society) and for such purposes as it thinks fit including (for the avoidance of doubt) for the making of any show rules or the running of any show.
- **18.9** Unless otherwise resolved by the Committee:
- (a) the quorum of every subcommittee is half the members of the subcommittee;
- (b) no subcommittee may co-opt additional members;
- (c) no subcommittee may commit the Society to any financial expenditure without express authority; and

- (d) no subcommittee may delegate any of its powers.
- **18.10** The Committee and any subcommittee may act by:
- (a) a written resolution (which may be in physical or electronic form); or
- (b) a resolution approved verbally in the course of a meeting, telephone conference call or video conference; approved by not less than half of the officers or members of the Committee or subcommittee (as the case may be).
- **18.11** The Committee from time to time may make and amend regulations, bylaws and policies for the conduct and control of Society's activities, but no such regulations, bylaws and policies can be inconsistent with this constitution or the Act.
- **18.12** This constitution, and such regulations, bylaws and policies, must be available at all reasonable times for inspection by members, and copies must be provided (at cost, if required by the Committee) to any member on request.
- **18.13** Other than as prescribed by the Act, this constitution or any bylaw, the Committee may regulate its proceedings as it thinks fit.
- **18.14** Members of the Committee and of subcommittees:
- (a) may receive such honoraria as may be set by resolution of a general meeting, subject to clause 5.4; and
- (b) are entitled to be reimbursed by the society for any reasonable actual expenses incurred by them on behalf of the Society as approved by resolution of the Committee.
- **18.15** Subject to the Act, this constitution and the resolutions of general meetings, the decisions of the Committee on the interpretation of this constitution and all matters dealt with by the Committee in accordance with this constitution shall be final and binding on all members.
- **18.16** The Committee may employ any person or company to administer or manage the affairs of the Society.

19 Indemnity and Insurance

- **19.1** The Society must indemnify each Officer, member, or employee of the Society for:
- (a) liability to any person other than the Society for any act or omission in their capacity as an Officer, a member, or an employee of the Society (not being a liability specified in subsection (2); or
- (b) costs incurred by the Officer, member, or employee in defending or settling any claim or proceeding relating to that liability; provided that this indemnity will not apply to any:
- (c) criminal liability; or
- (d) liability that arises out of a failure to act in good faith and in what the Officer, member, or employee believed to be the best interests of the Society when acting in their capacity as an Officer, a member, or an employee of the Society.

- **19.2** The Society must also indemnify an Officer, member, or employee of the Society for any costs incurred by them in defending or settling a proceeding that relates to liability of a kind referred to in clause 19.1(c) and 19.1(d) if:
- (a) judgment is given in their favour or if they are acquitted; or
- (b) the proceeding is discontinued.
- **19.3** The Society may, with the prior approval of the committee, effect insurance for an Officer, a member, or an employee of the society in respect of:
- (a) liability (other than criminal liability) for any act or omission in their capacity as an Officer, a member, or an employee of the society (including any breach of duties under this constitution or the Incorporated Societies Act 2022);
- (b) costs incurred by the Officer, member, or employee in defending or settling any claim or proceeding relating to that liability; and
- (c) costs incurred by the Officer, member, or employee in defending any criminal proceedings:
 - (i) that have been brought against the Officer, member, or employee in relation to any alleged act or omission in their capacity as an Officer, a member, or an employee; and
 - (ii) in which they are acquitted.
- **19.4** The Officers who vote in favour of authorising the insurance under clause 19.3 must sign a certificate stating that, in their opinion, the cost of effecting the insurance is fair to the Society.
- **19.5** The Officer, member, or employee who is insured is personally liable to the Society for the cost of effecting insurance if:
- (a) the requirements of this constitution have not been complied with; or
- (b) reasonable grounds did not exist for the opinion set out in the certificate given under clause 19.4; unless the insurance was fair to the Society at the time the insurance was effected.

20 Registered Office

20.1 The registered office of the Society will be at such a place as the Committee from time to time determines.

21 Execution of Documents

- **21.1** A contract or other enforceable obligation may be entered into by the Society, when authorised by a resolution of the Committee, on the following basis:
- (a) an obligation that, if entered into by a natural person, would, by law, be required to be by deed may be entered into on behalf of the Society in writing signed under the name of the society by:
 - (i) 2 or more officers of the society; or
 - (ii) 1 or more attorneys appointed by the Society under s 124 of the Act.

- (b) an obligation that, if entered into by a natural person, is, by law, required to be in writing may be entered into on behalf of the Society in writing by a person acting under the Society's express or implied authority.
- (c) an obligation that, if entered into by a natural person, is not, by law, required to be in writing may be entered into on behalf of the Society in writing or orally by a person acting under the Society's express or implied authority.

22 Amending the Constitution

- **22.1** This constitution may be amended or replaced by resolution of any general meeting passed by a two-thirds majority of those members present and entitled to vote, provided that no amendment may be made which would alter:
- (a) the rules precluding members from obtaining any personal benefit from their membership.
- **22.2** Any proposed motion of a member of the Society to amend or replace this constitution must be signed by at least 11 members and given in writing to the Secretary at least four clear weeks before the general meeting at which the motion is to be considered, accompanied by a written explanation of the reasons for the proposal.
- **22.3** The Committee may by ordinary resolution propose that the Society amend or replace this constitution in which case notice must be given in writing to the Secretary at least 2 clear weeks before the general meeting at which the motion is to be considered, accompanied by a written explanation of the reasons for the proposal.
- **22.4** At least 7 clear days before the general meeting at which any such proposal is to be considered, the Secretary must give notice (in accordance with this constitution) to members of the proposed motion, of the reasons for the proposal and of any recommendations from the Committee in respect of that notice.
- **22.5** Subject to clause 22.6, the Committee may amend this constitution if the amendment:
- (a) has no more than a minor effect; or 15
- (b) corrects errors or makes similar technical alterations.
- **22.6** An amendment made pursuant to clause 22.5 is only valid if the Committee sends notice of the amendment to every member of the Society stating:
- (a) the text of the amendment; and
- (b) the right of the member to object to the amendment; and the Committee receives no objection from any member within 20 working days after the date on which the notice was sent.

23 Dispute Resolution

- **23.1** If any dispute arises between:
- (a) two or more members; or
- (b) one or more officers and the Society; or

- (c) one or more members or officers and the Society; and the dispute relates to an allegation that:
- (d) a member or an officer has engaged in misconduct including (without limitation) breach of any show rules; or
- (e) a member of an officer has breached, or is likely to breach, a duty under this constitution or the Act;
- (f) the Society has breached, or is likely to breach, a duty under this constitution or the Act; (g) a member's rights or interests as a member have been damaged or members' rights or interests generally have been damaged; then any party involved with the dispute may make a complaint to the Board and the procedures contained in clauses 2 to 8 (inclusive) of schedule 2 of the Act shall be deemed to be included in this constitution and shall apply to the resolution of the dispute.
- **23.2** The Committee shall be the decision maker responsible for resolving the dispute provided that:
- (a) If the complaint relates to one or more members, that member or those members must be excluded from the Committee's management of the dispute resolution process and decision making.
- (b) If the complaint is made by one or more members, that member or those members must be excluded from the Committee's management of the dispute resolution process and decision making; and
- (c) If the Committee is unable to proceed because it will not have a quorum of members to conduct the dispute resolution process as a consequence of clause 23.2(a), the Committee must appoint an individual who is not a member of the 16 committee to manage the dispute resolution process and make a decision about the complaint. After completing the dispute resolution processes provided for in clause 23.1, the Committee or the independent person appointed pursuant to clause 23.2(b), (the **decision maker**) may:
- (d) Make a finding considered by the decision maker to be fair and consistent with the evidence provided by the dispute resolution process;
- (e) In the case of a complaint against a member, suspend the member's membership for a defined period or terminate the member's membership; or
- (f) In the case of a complaint against an officer, remove the officer from their role as an officer (and, if the officer is also a member, the penalties in clause 23.2(e) could also be applied).

24 General Meetings

- **24.1** The Society's annual general meeting must be held
- (a) not later than 6 months after the balance date of the society; and
- (b) not later than 15 months after the previous annual general meeting.
- **24.2** Special general meetings may be called by the Committee or by written requisition to the Secretary signed by not less than a quarter of the Members excluding Youth Members and Social Non Riding Members.

- **24.3** At least seven clear days before any general meeting, the Secretary must send to all members notice of the business to be conducted at the meeting and details of the date, time and place of the meeting.
- **24.4** Any irregularity in the manner of calling a general meeting is waived if all the members entitled to attend and vote at the meeting attend the meeting without protest as to the irregularity, or if all such members agree to the waiver but in any event the failure for any reason of any member to receive notice of a general meeting does not invalidate the meeting or its proceedings.
- **24.5** General meetings may be attended by all members of whatever class of membership, but only Individual, Family and Life Members personally present at the general meeting or who have provided a valid proxy, and in every case whose subscription payments are up to date are entitled to vote. For the avoidance of doubt a Family Member is entitled to one vote only, not one per individual comprising the family.
- **24.6** The quorum for general meetings is ten members entitled to vote pursuant to clause 24.5 present in person. Postal voting is not permitted.
- **24.7** Proxy voting is permitted provided that the proxy is held by a member entitled to vote in his or her own right present at the meeting and holding an original, signed proxy authorisation form as provided with the notice of meeting which shall be provided to the meeting chairperson at the start of any general meeting. Emailed forms are not acceptable. Any dispute as to the validity of a proxy shall be determined by the 17 Chairperson of the general meeting. A member who has provided a valid proxy shall be deemed present for the purposes of establishing the meeting quorum.
- **24.8** All general meetings must be chaired by the President or, in the President's absence, by the Vice-President or, in the absence of both of them, by some other officer elected for the purpose by the members at the general meeting, and any such chairperson does not have a deliberative and casting vote.
- **24.9** Voting at general meetings must be exercised as follows:
- (a) voting must be by voices, by show of hands or, by proxy or, on demand of the chairperson or of any member present, by secret ballot, and on each case each member entitled to vote is entitled to one vote;
- (b) unless otherwise required by this constitution, all questions must be determined by a simple majority of those present and entitled to vote;
- **24.10** A resolution passed by the required majority at any general meeting binds all members, irrespective of whether they were present at the general meeting where the resolution was adopted or whether they voted.
- **24.11** The Secretary must keep minutes of each general meeting. If the Secretary is not present at a general meeting, the President must appoint another officer to keep minutes of the meeting.

25 Annual General Meeting

- **25.1** The notice (**Notice**) for an annual general meeting must include:
- (a) an annual report from the Committee reporting on the operations and affairs of the Society during the most recently completed accounting period;
- (b) a copy of the financial statements for the Society for that period;
- (c) notice of any disclosures made to the Interests Register since the immediately preceding annual general meeting (including a brief summary of the matters, or types of matters, to which those, to which those disclosures relate);
- (d) a list of and information about nominees for officer appointments;
- (e) a resolution for appointment of a chartered accountant for annual financial statement preparation;
- (f) notice of proposed changes to subscriptions for members (if any);
- (g) notice of any motions and the Committee's recommendations; and
- (h) the Committee's proposed budget for the next year; and
- (i) a proxy nomination form.
- 25.2 The business of the annual general meeting is:
- (a) approving the minutes of the previous general meeting;
- (b) approving the Committee's annual report provided with the Notice;
- (c) approving the financial statements provided with the Notice;
- (d) election of officers;
- (e) voting on subscription amount changes for the next financial year (if any);
- (f) voting on any motions referred to in the Notice;
- (g) approving a budget for the next financial year; and
- (h) general business.
- **25.3** Any member wishing to give notice of any motion for consideration at the annual general meeting must forward written notice of the motion to the Secretary not less than four clear weeks before the date of the meeting. The Committee may consider all such notices of motion and provide recommendations to members in respect of those notices.

26 Written Resolution in Lieu of General Meeting

- **26.1** A written resolution is as valid as if it had been passed at a general meeting if it is approved by no less than 75% of the number of members who are entitled to vote.
- **26.2** A written resolution may consist of one or more documents in similar form (including letters, electronic mail, or other similar means of communication) each approved by or on behalf of one or more of the members who are entitled to vote.
- **26.3** For the purposes of clause 26.2, a member may give their approval by:
- (a) signing the resolution; or
- (b) giving their approval to the resolution by email or any other electronic means approved by the Committee.

27 Winding Up

- **27.1** The Society may be put into liquidation if the Society, at a general meeting of its members, passes a resolution appointing a liquidator and nominating a not-for-profit entity with purposes similar to the Objects to receive the Society's surplus assets, if any, and the resolution is confirmed at a subsequent general meeting called together for that purpose and held not earlier than 30 days after the date on which the resolution to be confirmed was passed.
- **27.2** The Society must be placed into liquidation (using the process specified in the previous clause) if the Society does not have the minimum number of members required to operate as a valid society under the Act in which case the resolution 19 required pursuant to clause 27.1 shall be deemed to be valid if signed by all of the remaining members.
- **27.3** If the Society is placed into liquidation, its surplus assets, after payment of all debts, costs and liabilities, must be disposed of to the not-for-profit entity selected by the members pursuant to clause 27.1.